## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

RONALD COTE, : Petitioner, : vs. : STATE OF FLORIDA, : Respondent. :

Case No. SC00-1327

# DISCRETIONARY REVIEW OF DECISION OF THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL OF FLORIDA SECOND DISTRICT

## INITIAL BRIEF OF PETITIONER ON THE MERITS

JAMES MARION MOORMAN PUBLIC DEFENDER TENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

RICHARD P. ALBERTINE, JR. ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER FLORIDA BAR NUMBER 365610

Public Defender's Office Polk County Courthouse P.O. Box 9000-PD Bartow, FL 33831 (863) 534-4200

ATTORNEYS FOR PETITIONER

#### TOPICAL

#### PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Petitioner, RONALD COTE, defendant at the trial court level and Appellant at the district court level, shall be referred to as Petitioner or by name in this merit brief. The State of Florida, as Respondent, represented by the State Attorney for the Twelfth Judicial Circuit at the trial court level and now represented by the Florida Attorney General's office at the appellate level, shall be referred to as Respondent or the state. Citations to the record shall be designated by (V1 or SV2-4, R\_) referring to volume or supplemental volume number and record page number.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant, RONALD COTE, a juvenile at the time of the alleged crime (DOB 3-31-80), was charged in a direct felony information, case number 97-670-F filed on March 7, 1997, with one count of burglary of a dwelling with assault or battery, pursuant to § 810.02(1)(a), Fla. Stat. (1997), alleged to have occurred on February 19, 1997, in Manatee County, Florida. (V1, R01-02). On July 24, 1997, Mr. Cote entered a plea of no contest to the charge after which the trial court, withheld adjudication

as an adult, and, instead, in the juvenile division, adjudicated him delinquent, and sentenced him as a juvenile to be committed to the Department of Juvenile Justice, level 8 facility, with aftercare probation not to exceed his nineteenth birthday. (V1, R20-21, 22-26, 29-30).

Subsequently, on August 3, 1998, three petitions and orders to show cause, ## 2-4, were filed against Mr. Cote in open juvenile court for indirect criminal contempt alleging various violations of a community control order as to case numbers 97-670-F; 97-698-JD; 95-1753-JD; 95-1009-JD; and 94-2941-JD. (V1, R31-44). At that same hearing, on August 3, 1998, Mr. Cote, in open juvenile court, pleaded guilty to the three petitions of indirect criminal contempt, ## 2-4 filed in case number 97-670-F, albeit, the written plea shows ## 1-4. (V1, R47, SV4, R140, 143). On August 3, 1998, orders of indirect criminal contempt were entered in case number 97-670-F as to ##2 and 3 after which Cote was sentenced to fifteen days in juvenile detention as to indirect criminal contempt # 2. (V1, R46, 47, 50, SV4, R143). On August 6, 1998, Cote was additionally sentenced to served fifteen days in secure detention commencing August 17, 1998 as to indirect criminal contempt order #3, while disposition on the indirect criminal contempt order #4 was set for August 31, 1998. (V1, R51, SV2, R127). Before orders of indirect criminal contempt, ##2 and 3, were rendered, an initial order of indirect criminal contempt, #1, had been rendered against Cote in open court on June 9, 1998. (SV3, R130-33). See Amended Written

Directions to the Clerk requesting Order to Show Cause #1 and memorandum supporting same, if such exist. (SV3, R135).

On August 7, 1998, a petition for violation of community control/post commitment community control, with attached affidavit for revocation of aftercare/re-entry, was filed in case number 97-670-F in the trial court. (V1, R54-55). Subsequently, a motion to dismiss petition for violation of community control/post-commitment community control was filed in the adult division of the circuit court on September 28, 1998, alleging that Mr. Cote previously had pleaded guilty in the juvenile division of the circuit court to four petitions and orders to show cause, ## 1-4, filed in case number 97-670-F and had been sentenced to fifteen days in secure detention, such that, the filing of the additional petition of violation based factually on the same alleged violations, effectively, constituted double jeopardy under the 5th and 14th Amendments to the United States Constitution and Article I, section 9 of the Florida Constitution. (V1, R65-66). On October 6, 1998, a hearing was held on Mr. Cote's motion to dismiss which the trial court, after hearing argument, summarily denied. (V1, R104-07). Mr. Cote, then, on October 29, 1998, in open court, admitted the violations and filed a written plea to the violations contained in the petition reserving the right to appeal the trial court's denial of his motion to dismiss, found by the trial court to be dispositive. (V1, R71, 110-14, 118). The trial court then revoked Mr. Cote's juvenile sanctions, withheld adjudication of

guilt, and sentenced him as an adult to another downward departure sentence of six years (72 mos.) in prison suspended, in lieu, of the youth successfully completing two years of community control followed by five years of probation. (V1, R120).

A notice of appeal was filed on November 17, 1998, as to the judgment and sentence rendered on October 29, 1998, in case number 97-670-F from which Cote's direct appeal ensued. (V1, R72). On March 17, 2000, the Second District Court of Appeal, with Acting Chief Judge Fulmer dissenting, ruled against Mr. Cote and denied his direct appeal based on the juvenile division, being without "divisional authority jurisdiction" to act upon Mr. Cote's alleged violations of indirect criminal contempt, not having jurisdiction to legally impose sanctions such that constitutional prohibition against double jeopardy was not implicated when the felony division judge imposed sentence. Cote v. State, 760 So. 2d 162 (Fla. 2d DCA 2000). Mr. Cote, then, filed a motion for rehearing wherein he requested the Second District Court of Appeal to certify the double jeopardy and jurisdictional questions presented by this case either as questions of great public importance, or, alternatively, as in direct conflict with N.T. v. State, 682 So. 2d 688 (Fla. 5th DCA 1996) which was denied without opinion May 8, 2000. See Appendix-B, copy of Order Denying Motion for Rehearing.

Petitioner filed his notice to invoke discretionary jurisdiction, pursuant to Fla. R. App. P. 9.030(a)(2)(A)(iv), was filed June 7, 2000, and his brief on jurisdiction filed shortly

thereafter. <u>See</u> Fla. R. App. P. 9.120(b) and (d). On January 12, 2001, this Court issued an order accepting jurisdiction and setting oral argument, in case number SC00-1327, wherein Petitioner was ordered to serve his brief on the merits on or before February 6, 2001, with oral argument set before this Court on June 5, 2001.

The relevant facts as set out in the Second District Court of Appeal's decision, <u>Cote v. State</u>, 760 So. 2d 162 (Fla. 2d DCA), <u>reh'g denied</u>, (May 8, 2000), (2-1 decision)(Fulmer, ACJ, dissenting), were as follows:

Mr. Cote appeals the denial of his motion to dismiss a petition alleging that he violated the terms of his community control. He contends that his sentence violated his constitutional right to be protected against double jeopardy. We affirm.

While a juvenile, Mr. Cote entered a plea to a felony in case number 97-670, a case in which he was exposed to adult sanctions. Rather than imposing adult penalties, the trial court opted for the juvenile sanction of commitment to a Level 8 facility to be followed by community control that was not to extend beyond his 19th birthday. After Mr. Cote's sentencing hearing on August 26, 1997, a written order of commitment to the Department of Juvenile Justice (to be followed by aftercare probation) was entered in the felony case on September 18, 1997. Erroneously, the juvenile commitment order indicated that it was entered in the juvenile division and reflected that Mr. Cote had entered a plea to a juvenile petition rather than to a felony information in felony division.

Subsequently, Mr. Cote was brought before the juvenile court judge for a contempt citation arising out of violations of his community control order. The juvenile judge indicated that the enforcement of Mr. Cote's juvenile sentence had been referred to the juvenile division of circuit court. Thus, upon a plea to the violations, Mr. Cote was held in indirect criminal contempt and was sentenced to serve a period of time in juvenile detention. Later, in this unique factual scenario, Mr. Cote was brought before the original felony division sentencing judge for violations of his community control order. The violations cited by the State were identical to those considered by the juvenile court judge. Mr. Cote argued that the violation hearing was prohibited by double jeopardy. The motion was denied and, upon plea, the court revoked the juvenile community control, withheld adjudication of guilt, and imposed a downward departure sentence of six years in prison, which was suspended on the condition that he successfully complete two years of community control followed by five years on

probation.

FULMER, Acting Chief Judge, Dissenting

. . .

It is clear from the following comments made by the juvenile court judge at the beginning of the contempt proceeding that everyone was aware that Mr. Cote's juvenile sanction had been originally imposed in a felony proceeding filed in adult court:

[H]e was actually filed on in adult court and Judge Dubensky or Dunnigan one gave him juvenile sanctions. So, the enforcement of juvenile sanction comes here. If, in fact, they choose to violate it, it will go up there. But right now we're just doing contempt so we're kind of enforcing the sanctions here.

The State responded, "Okay," and the proceeding continued. Neither the State nor Mr. Cote objected. At the hearing on Mr. Cote's motion to dismiss, the State argued that the juvenile court did not have jurisdiction to conduct the contempt proceeding because section 985.233(4)(e), Florida Statutes (1997), provides that once a child has been sentenced to juvenile sanctions in an adult court proceeding, "further proceedings involving those sanctions shall continue to be heard in the adult court." Therefore, the State argued, "whatever [the juvenile court judge] did is null and void." The trial court agreed and denied the motion.

<u>Cote v. State</u>, 760 So. 2d at 163, 164-165; <u>see</u> Appendix-A, copy of Second District Court of Appeal decision in <u>Cote v. State</u>, 760 So. 2d 162 (Fla. 2d DCA), <u>reh'q denied</u>, (May 8, 2000), (2-1 decision)(Fulmer, ACJ, dissenting). While the Second District Court of Appeal's opinion rendered March 17, 2000, concisely set out the relevant facts, Petitioner recites the following facts to insure full understanding of the facts underlying his case.

Petitioner, RONALD COTE, a juvenile at the time of the alleged crime (DOB 3-31-80), was charged in a direct felony information, case number 97-670-F filed on March 7, 1997, with

one count of burglary of a dwelling with assault or battery, pursuant to § 810.02(1)(a), Fla. Stat. (1997), alleged to have occurred on February 19, 1997 in Manatee County, Florida. (V1, R01-02). On July 24, 1997, Mr. Cote entered a plea of no contest to the charge after which the trial court, withheld adjudication as an adult, and, instead, in the juvenile division, adjudicated him delinquent, and sentenced him as a juvenile to be committed to the Department of Juvenile Justice, level 8 facility, with aftercare probation not to exceed his nineteenth birthday. (V1, R20-21, 22-26, 29-30).

A petition for violation of community control/post commitment community control in case number 97-670-F was filed on August 7, 1998, together with affidavit for revocation of aftercare/re-entry attached which listed the following violations in paragraph 2:

06-06-80 violated his commitment order by a) consuming an alcoholic beverage. Blood alcohol level was .23% Violated commitment by leaving residence breaking curfew and consuming alcohol. 07--24-98 violating commitment by leaving b) residence (curfew violation) Driving his mothers vehicle without possessing a valid Driver License. 07-31-98 violated commitment leaving house C) after curfew and getting intoxicated from the consumption of alcohol. d) Continuous rule violations in the program which are attached to this packet. (V1, R54-55). Apparently, the date was incorrectly noted as 06-

06-80, in that the date of the alleged violation regarding Cote having consumed alcoholic beverage was 06-04-98, not 06-06-80 as incorrectly noted in the affidavit, although the incident was

written up on June 6, 1998, 06-06-98. (SV3, R130-133). Previously, on June 9 and August 3, 1998, in open court, Mr. Cote had pleaded guilty to four petitions and orders to show cause for indirect criminal contempt, ## 1-4. (V1, R47, SV3, R130-33). An order of indirect criminal contempt, #1, had been imposed in chambers against Mr. Cote on June 6, 1998 for the violation of curfew and drinking that had occurred on June 4, 1998, albeit, the order was not filed until June 9, 1998 in open court. (SV3, R133).

On October 6, 1998, the trial court held a hearing Mr. Cote's motion to dismiss. (V1, R104-07). At that hearing, the defense argued that Cote had pleaded guilty, in juvenile court before Judge Brownell, to four petitions and orders to show cause, each alleging a separate violation of aftercare probation and was sentenced to fifteen days of secure detention on each of two of the orders of indirect criminal contempt. (V1, R104-5). Accordingly, Mr. Cote had been placed in jeopardy twice as to the alleged violations of aftercare probation, including those as related to case number 97-670-F, such that the filing of an additional petition for violation of community control/post commitment community control in case number 97-670-F constituted double jeopardy. (V1, R105).

The prosecutor argued to the trial court that the juvenile court did not have jurisdiction to hear the petitions and orders to show cause, citing § 985.233(4)(e), Fla. Stat. (1997) to the effect that, "any further proceedings, once a child has been to

adult court and sentenced as a juvenile, any further proceedings shall be heard in the adult court." (V1, R106). According to the state, Judge Brownell, in the juvenile division of the circuit court, did not have jurisdiction to hear anything further as to case number 97-670-F so that what the juvenile court did with respect to that case was null and void. The defense attorney pointed out that any jurisdiction problem was not the fault of Mr. Cote who had been hauled in front of the juvenile court where he pleaded guilty and was sentenced. (V1, R106).

The trial court summarily denied Mr. Cote's motion:

THE COURT: Well, I'll consider that Judge Brownell was aware of or should have been aware of the rule that, or the statute that prohibited him from exercising jurisdiction in 97-670, and merely disposed of the juvenile cases over which he did have jurisdiction. So the motion's denied.

(V1, R106). The defense attorney pointed out to the trial court that the paperwork on the case indicated that Mr. Cote had entered a plea of guilt in front of Judge Brownell, the juvenile court, as to the felony case number 97-670-F. (V1, R106). Undeterred, the trial court reiterated it was denying the motion to dismiss on jurisdictional grounds:

THE COURT: Motion denied. I agree, Judge Brownell had no jurisdiction, and the sentence that was imposed on Mr. Cote is going to be treated by this Court as the sentence for the cases for which Judge Brownell did have jurisdiction.

(V1, R106-07).

Subsequently, on October 29, 1998, Mr. Cote entered a plea of guilt, admitting to violating the conditions as alleged in the additional petition for violation of community control/post commitment community control filed in case number 97-670-F, and reserving the right to appeal the trial court's denial of Cote's motion to dismiss, found to be dispositive. (V1, R110-14, 118). The trial court then revoked the juvenile sanctions initially imposed on Cote, withheld adjudication, and sentenced him to 72 months in prison which was suspended in lieu of two years of community control followed by five years of probation. (V1, R120).

With regard to the previous orders of indirect criminal contempt, ##1-4, imposed against Mr. Cote in case number 97-670-F, the record on appeal, after being supplemented, shows that an indirect criminal contempt order #1 had been rendered against Mr. Cote in case number 97-670-F in open court on June 9, 1998 by Judge Brownell in the Juvenile Division of the Circuit Court of the Twelfth Judicial Circuit in and for Manatee County, Florida, relating to breaking curfew and drinking alcoholic beverage violations dated June 6, 1998, alleged to have occurred on June 4, 1998. (SV2, R130-33). Further, in case number 97-670-F, Mr. Cote pleaded guilty to petitions and orders to show cause ##2-4 on August 3, 1998. (V1, R31-53, SV2, R127, SV4, R138-143).

At the August 3, 1998 proceedings in juvenile court, the juvenile court accepted the guilty pleas of Mr. Cote as to the petitions and orders to show cause ##2-4, in filed in case number 97-670-F, while acknowledging that an indirect contempt order had already been entered a few weeks earlier, an apparent reference to the indirect criminal contempt order #1 previously rendered

against Mr. Cote in case number 97-670-F in open court on June 9, 1998:

THE COURT: All right, Ronald Cote, please. Mr. Cote, here's what we've got here. We've got three orders to show cause. Let's see if I've got any copies here. No. I'll show you the originals if you give them back to me. We'll got make some copies and I'll give them to you.

We've got the three orders to show cause here which, one of which says that you violated curfew while you were on -- aftercare. One says you left your residence without permission, the aftercare deputy -which violates the rules. And one of them says that you were found intoxicated. You want to read those over.

THE COURT: I'm going to make copies for everybody.

What this is, for your benefit, since this is going to be confusing, he was actually filed on in adult court and Judge Dubensky or Dunnigan one gave him juvenile sanctions. So, the enforcement of juvenile sanctions comes here. If, in fact, they choose to violate it, it will be going up there. But right now we're just doing contempt so we're kind of enforcing the sanctions here.

. . . .

THE COURT: I show that we had another case that he had, we've already done a contempt on his once for another case that we had a few weeks ago.

Let's see, this is 97-670F, 97-670F. So this actually will be two, three and four. That's right. Okay, if you'll raise your right hand, please?

(SV4, R138-40). <u>See</u> indirect criminal contempt order #1 entered and filed in open court on June 9, 1998 (SV3, R133); <u>see also</u> documents as to the indirect criminal contempt, including a letter from the program director of the Juvenile Justice Division to Judge Brownell as to Mr. Cote's alleged violations in case numbers 97-670F; 94-2941JD; 95-1009JD; 95-1753JD; and 97-698JD. (SV3, R130-32).

#### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The Second District Court of Appeal's decision in Cote v. State, 760 So. 2d 162 (Fla. 2d DCA), reh'g denied, (May 8, 2000), expressly and directly conflicts with the Fifth District Court of Appeal's decision in N.T. v. State, 682 So. 2d 688 (Fla. 5th DCA 1996) on the same question of law as to whether prosecution and punishment for both indirect criminal contempt in the circuit court, juvenile division, and a violation of community control in the circuit court, criminal felony division, based on the same conduct violated constitutional guarantees against double jeopardy contained in the double jeopardy clauses of the Florida and federal constitutions. The trial court, in Petitioner's case, by ruling that the circuit court, juvenile division, did not have jurisdiction to enter petitions and orders to show cause and orders of indirect criminal contempt in case number 97-670-F, fundamentally erred in denying Cote's motion to dismiss, which was based on double jeopardy grounds. As a result, Petitioner was substantially prejudiced since he was prosecuted and pleaded guilty twice on separate occasions, once in the circuit court, juvenile division, in indirect contempt proceedings and a second time in the circuit court, criminal felony division, in violation of community control proceedings, to having committed the same acts in violation of his community control/post commitment community control order and was punished twice for these violations, in violation of constitutional prohibitions against double jeopardy.

Thus, this Court should exercise discretionary jurisdiction,

pursuant to Fla. R. App. P. 9.030(a)(2)(A)(iv), quash the Second District Court of Appeal's decision and review Petitioner's case on the merits, thereafter, reversing the trial court's orders denying Petitioner's motion to dismiss, revoking his community control, and sentencing him to 72 months in prison suspended in lieu of 2 years community control followed by 5 years of probation, after which his original juvenile adjudication of delinquency and disposition should be reimposed in case 97-670-F, together with credit for any time served on community control and probation in the interim.

#### ARGUMENT

### <u>ISSUE I</u>

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