IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

RONALD COTE

Petitioner

vs.

Case No.SC00-1327

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent

DISCRETIONARY REVIEW OF DECISION OF THE

DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL OF FLORIDA SECOND DISTRICT

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT ON THE MERITS

ROBERT BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

ROBERT J. KRAUSS

Senior Assistant Attorney General Chief of Criminal Law, Tampa Florida Bar No. 0238538

TIMOTHY A. FREELAND

Assistant Attorney General Fla. Bar No. 539181 Westwood Center 2002 N. Lois, Suite 700 Tampa, Florida 33607

COUNSEL FOR RESPONDENT

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Respondent accepts Petitioner's Statement of the Case and Facts for the purposes of this appeal.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The Juvenile Division had no jurisdiction over Petitioner once the State filed an information with the felony division, and any actions taken by the juvenile court judge were a nullity, void even in the absence of any objection from the State.

ARGUMENT

WHETHER THE SECOND DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL'S DECISION IN COTE V. STATE, 760 SO. 2D 162 (FLA. 2D DCA 2000) EXPRESSLY AND DIRECTLY CONFLICTS WITH THE FIFTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL'S DECISION IN N.T. V. STATE, 682 SO. 2D 688 (FLA. 5^{TH} DCA 1996) ON THE SAME QUESTION OF LAW AS TO WHETHER PROSECUTION AND PUNISHMENT FOR BOTH INDIRECT CRIMINAL CONTEMPT IN THE CIRCUIT COURT, JUVENILE DIVISION, AND A VIOLATION OF COMMUNITY CONTROL IN THE CIRCUIT COURT, CRIMINAL FELONY DIVISION, BASED ON THE SAME CONDUCT, VIOLATED CONSTITUTIONAL GUARANTEE AGAINST DOUBLE JEOPARDY WHERE THE JUVENILE COURT HAD NO JURISDICTION TO ACCEPT PETITIONER'S PLEA BECAUSE PETITIONER HAD PREVIOUSLY BEEN TRANSFERRED FOR PROSECUTION TO ADULT FELONY COURT? (Restated by Respondent)

Petitioner, a juvenile who was sixteen years old at the time of the offense, was charged by the State in adult felony court pursuant to F.S. 39.052(3)(a)5(b)(1996) with burglary of a dwelling with assault or battery, a first degree felony punishable by life imprisonment (R. 001). He entered a plea of no contest to this charge (R. 020) and the felony court, pursuant to F.S. 39.059(1)(1996) elected to impose juvenile sanctions against Petitioner. Petitioner was sentenced in adult felony court on September 18, 1997 to juvenile sanctions, including community control, and was ordered to attend a level 8 commitment program as a condition thereof. The Order of Commitment erroneously indicated that it was entered in the juvenile division, and

indicated that Petitioner had entered a plea to a juvenile petition rather than to a felony information filed in adult court $(R.\ 019-030)$.

On July 30, 1998, Petitioner violated the terms of his community control (R. 044-045) and even though Petitioner had been previously filed upon as an adult, an Order to Show Cause was issued, apparently in error, by the Juvenile Division of the Circuit Court (R. 032). The State filed no charging document in the Juvenile Division. Several other cases, apparently not related to the instant case but all bearing Juvenile Division case numbers, were also included with the Order to Show Cause which was issued by the Juvenile Court on August 3, 1998 (R. 032). On August 6, 1998 a disposition hearing was held and Petitioner entered pleas of guilty to all charges, including the felony charge of violating his community control. This plea was erroneously accepted by the Juvenile Division judge (R. 047), and Petitioner was determined to be in contempt of court and was sentenced to fifteen days in detention (R. 048- 052).

The State then filed a Petition for Violation of Community
Control on August 7, 1998 in the Felony Division. Petitioner
filed a motion to dismiss on double jeopardy grounds, asserting
that he had already been charged with violating the terms of his
community control by the Juvenile Division, and that he had
entered a plea to those charges and had been sentenced by the

Juvenile Division (R. 065, 066). The trial court denied this motion, finding that because Petitioner had been filed on in adult court, the Juvenile Division had no jurisdiction to accept a plea on a case arising out of adult court (T. 106). Petitioner then entered a plea to the violation, reserving his right to appeal the dispositive motion to dismiss.

Petitioner appealed to the Second District Court of Appeal.

The Second District affirmed the trial court's actions, finding that the Juvenile Division had no divisional jurisdiction to hear a felony case in the absence of an order from the felony court transferring jurisdiction to the Juvenile Division. The Second District stated:

"No court order transferring divisions or consolidating the felony case with other pending juvenile cases was entered. We conclude that the juvenile division was without divisional authority jurisdiction to act upon Mr. Cote's alleged violations. Jurisdiction of a court is frequently invoked by statutory law. Section 985.201, Florida Statues (1997), confers in the circuit courts exclusive original jurisdiction of proceedings 'in which a child is alleged to have committed a delinquent act or violation of law.' As stated by our supreme court in State v. Griffith, 675 So. 2d 911, 913 (Fla. 1996), '[t]he Juvenile Justice Act vests the juvenile division with the exclusive jurisdiction over all proceedings in which a child allegedly violates the law unless ... juvenile jurisdiction is waived.' Here, juvenile jurisdiction was waived because the information against Mr. Cote was directly filed in the felony division. Accordingly, the juvenile proceeding did not come within the specified grant of jurisdictional

authority awarded by section 985.201, Florida Statutes (1997), see Williams v. State, 737 So. 2d 1141 (Fla. 4th DCA 1999), nor could the parties confer jurisdiction upon the court by stipulation or by failure to object to its action, see Worley v. State, 396 So. 2d 1153 (Fla. 2d DCA 1981). Although juvenile court and criminal court are divisions of the circuit court, defense counsel cannot fail to object to the juvenile court judge's exercise of authority and then, when the client is convicted, seek a remedy later. The trial court's resources are not to be consumed in such a manner. See Griffith, 675 So. 2d at 913-914. Here, in fairness, we must also point out that the error went unnoticed by the State.

We conclude that the juvenile division was without divisional authority jurisdiction to act upon Mr. Cote's alleged violations. therefore, the juvenile court judge could not legally impose sanctions, and the constitutional prohibition against double jeopardy was not implicated when the felony division judge imposed sentence."

Cote v. State, 25 Fla. L. Weekly D676 (Fla. 2d DCA 2000).

THIS COURT'S CONFLICT JURISDICTION

Petitioner asserts that this Court has jurisdiction because the decision of the Second District in Cote conflicts with the decision in N.T. v. State, 682 So. 2d 688 (Fla. 5th DCA 1996). In N.T., the juvenile defendant plead to having committed a delinquent act and was placed on community control. When he subsequently violated the terms of that community control, the trial court issued an Order to Show Cause, and the State simultaneously filed a Petition based on the same facts, alleging that N.T. had violated the terms of his community control. At the

hearing, N.T. moved to dismiss one of the two charges on the grounds of double jeopardy. The trial court denied the motion, and N.T. was found to have violated the terms of his community control, and was also found to be in contempt of court for violating the trial court's Order. On appeal, the Fifth District concluded that this was improper:

"Here, the state contends that ... the double jeopardy clause does not bar contempt proceedings against N.T. The State suggests that section 39.0145, Florida Statutes (1995), allows a trial court to initiate contempt proceedings against juveniles when sanctions for violating community control are no longer available or appropriate. It is the state's view that, by enacting this statute, the legislature sought to prescribe cumulative punishment for a single act...

In our view, this provision seeks to ensure that trial judges consider alternative sanctions before placing juveniles in secure detention facilities for contempt of court and in no way authorizes the imposition of cumulative punishments. Accordingly, we hold that N.T.'s prosecution for contempt of court arising out of his violation of community control is barred as violating the double jeopardy clause. U.S. Const. Amend. V; Fla. Const., Art. I. sec. 9."

N.T. v. State, 682 So. 2d 688 at 690 (Fla. 5th DCA 1996).

Plainly, the facts of N.T. are significantly different from the facts of the present case. In N.T., the defendant was faced with both an Order to Show Cause as well as a Petition alleging violation of his community control, all filed within the Juvenile Division, all arising out of the same facts. This is not at all the issue which this Court is asked to resolve; were the only

issue here the question of whether or not a defendant in either juvenile or felony court faced with contempt of court and violation of community control based on the same facts, the State would agree that one of the two charges was improperly brought. Rather, the issue to be addressed here is whether the Juvenile Division retains jurisdiction over a criminal case once felony charges have been filed and that case has been transferred to the felony division. Consequently, the State would ask this Court to deny Petitioner the relief that he seeks, on the grounds that the issue presented in the present case does not conflict with the holding in N.T.; the State does not dispute the application of the prohibition against double jeopardy in cases where the trial court has proper jurisdiction over the charges before it. N.T. fails to address the real issue here, which is the question of whether the juvenile division retains jurisdiction to the extent that it may impose a sentence in a case which has, by law, been transferred to felony court. It is the State's position that the juvenile division has no authority to consider a case under these circumstances. Let us now turn to the merits of Petitioner's claim.

MERITS OF PETITIONER'S CLAIM

The Constitution of the State of Florida was amended in 1950 to permit the creation of the juvenile court. Article I section 15(b) declares:

"When authorized by law, a child as therein defined may be charged with a violation of law as an act of delinquency instead of crime and tried without a jury or other requirements applicable to criminal cases. Any child so charged shall, upon demand made as provided by law before a trial in a juvenile proceeding, be tried in an appropriate court as an adult. A child found delinquent shall be disciplined as provided by law" (emphasis added).

This constitutional amendment left it up to the Florida Legislature to pass appropriate laws to govern the regulation of the juvenile system. One aspect of the amendment, however, is important to our discussion. Plainly, the Florida Constitution provides that where the appropriate "demand" has been made, a child must ("shall") be tried as an adult; the Florida Constitution requires only that a proper demand be made as provided by law. As we shall see, the applicable provision which currently determines when a child is to be treated as an adult requires only that when a child who has committed a felony is at least sixteen years of age, the State may at that point elect to treat that child as an adult, and file the case in the felony division. It is constitutionally mandated, at this point, that the child shall be treated as an adult. Let us now turn to the specific laws which govern the prosecution of a child as an adult, and examine in more detail the rule regarding which court shall have jurisdiction over that child's case.

The Legislature specifies in Florida Statute Section 26.012(2)(c) that the circuit court has jurisdiction over all cases relating to juveniles. The circuit court has many divisions, of course, including separate felony and juvenile divisions. Florida Statute Section 39, and more recently Section 985, both govern the manner in which juveniles are prosecuted, and it is in these chapters where we shall ascertain the procedure for prosecuting a child as an adult.

Chapter 985 of the Florida Statutes became effective October 1, 1997. Certain parts of 985 are applicable only to cases where the crime involved was committed after the effective date. It is the State's position that certain other parts of Chapter 985 are applicable to the instant case, because Petitioner's violation of community control did not occur until after the effective date of Chapter 985. However, in an abundance of caution, let us first examine Chapter 39, which contains the law which was in effect at the time the substantive offence was committed.

Florida Statute Section 39.022 establishes the circuit court's exclusive jurisdiction over children charged with both delinquent acts and violations of law. The distinction between the juvenile and felony divisions of the circuit court is underscored by Section 39.022(b), which mandates that where it is determined at any time during the prosecution of any person presumed to be an adult that said person was a child at the time

of the offense, that person's case and all related papers are to be immediately transferred to the juvenile division. Plainly, the legislature's intent is to place a distinct wall between the felony and juvenile divisions, to the extent that even where prosecution of a charge has already commenced, the case must be transferred to the proper court once the defendant's juvenile status is established.

The specific statute governing transfer of a child out of the juvenile division for felony prosecution is found in Florida Statute Section 39.052(3)(1996). Under this subsection, the State Attorney may file an information charging a felony offense against any child who is at least 16 years of age at the time the alleged offense was committed; in some cases, direct filing as an adult is mandated. The record before us does not clearly indicate whether or not the State's decision to file an information in this case was mandated or not, but for the purposes of our analysis the distinction is moot; it is not disputed that the State properly filed upon the Petitioner as an adult, because he met the criteria for permitting the State to do so. More importantly, the statute makes clear that once the information is filed, the case is to be transferred to the felony division for prosecution, and that child is henceforth to be treated in all respects as an adult for any subsequent violations of state law. Florida Statute Section 39.052(3)(5)(d)(1996). It is the State's

position, based upon the statutory authority cited here, that once the Petitioner's case was transferred to felony division of the circuit court for prosecution as an adult, the juvenile division was divested of authority to rule on any aspect of Petitioner's case.

This Court has previously recognized the jurisdictional distinction between the juvenile and felony divisions of the circuit court. In State v. Griffith, 675 So. 2d 911 (Fla. 1996), this Court noted: "The Juvenile Justice Act vests the juvenile division with exclusive jurisdiction over all proceedings in which a child allegedly violates the law unless, in compliance with the Act, juvenile jurisdiction is waived or the juvenile falls under a statutory exception. Accordingly, in certain circumstances, children may be tried as adults and exposed to adult sanctions." Id at 913. It is the State's position that once the State filed an information in the felony division, the Juvenile Division no longer had jurisdiction over any aspect of Petitioner's case. Hence, even though the Juvenile Division issued an Order to Show Cause requiring Petitioner to appear, this action was done in error; the Juvenile Clerk's office should have transferred the case immediately to the felony division, and the sitting juvenile court judge, likewise, should have taken action to dismiss the Order to Show Cause and transfer the case to the proper court once it came before him. In any event,

regardless of the compound errors committed by the Juvenile
Division here, the actions taken by that court were in fact a
nullity despite the fact that Petitioner entered an admission to
the Order, because the Juvenile Division had no divisional
authority jurisdiction to act in Petitioner's case.

The State's position is grounded on the fact that jurisdiction over how and where a child is prosecuted is strictly a matter of legislation. Where the legislature has clearly dictated that once the State files an information in the felony division that a juvenile is to be treated as an adult thenceforth, it is clear that this language is intended to divest the juvenile division of any further jurisdiction over that case. Of significance is the legislature's then newly enacted Florida Statute Section 985.227(3) (1997), which became effective October 1, 1997:

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